IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,) Supreme Court) No. S207542		
Plaintiff and Respondent, v. BEN CHANDLER, JR.,) Court of Appeal) No. E054154)) Superior Court) No. SWF027980)		
Defendant and Appellant.	_)		
APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF R Honorable Mark Johnson, Judg APPELLANT'S OPENING BR	SUPREME COURT Ge FILED MAY - 3 2013		
Stephen M. Hinkle, Attorney at Law SBN 124407 11260 Donner Pass Road, C-1 PMB 138 Truckee, CA 96161 (530) 553- 4425 hinkle124407@gmail.com Attorney for Appellant			

By appointment of the California Supreme Court

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

ISSUE PRESENTED.

(California Rules of Court, rule 8.516 (a)(1).

Consistent with First Amendment protections, can appellant be convicted of an attempted criminal threat based only on his subjective intent, regardless of whether the uttered statement is viewed objectively as a threat? If the statement must, at a minimum, be viewed objectively as a threat, does instruction with the general concepts of attempt (CALCRIM No. 460) and the completed criminal threat (CALCRIM No. 1300) convey this required element?

INTRODUCTION.

When the state criminalizes threatening speech, it must do so within the constraints of the First Amendment. (*Watts v. United States* (1969) 394 U.S. 705, 707 [89 S.Ct. 1399, 22 L.Ed.2d 664] [statement that speaker would kill the president not a true criminal threat but political hyperbole privileged under the first amendment].) Crafted carefully to follow the guidelines set forth in *United States v. Kelner* (2nd. Cir. 1976) 534 F.2d 1020, the current criminal threat statute, codified in Penal Code¹ section 422, respects this parameter. (*People v. Bolin* (1998) 18 Cal.4th 297, 338-339 [current version of section 422 is constitutional]; *People v. Mirmirani* (1981) 30 Cal.3d 375, 383 [former section 422 unconstitutionally vague]; see generally *In re M.S.* (1995) 10 Cal.4th 698.) Based on the interplay of sections 21a, 422, and 664, this court found there is a crime of attempted criminal threat. (*People v. Toledo* (2001) 26 Cal.4th 221.)

One essential component of the completed criminal threat crime is the reasonableness of the fear; it must be reasonable under the circumstances. (*People v. Toledo, supra*, 26 Cal.4th 221, 228.) This element necessarily distinguishes a true threat from hyperbolic speech. Given this significant purpose, the element must exist not only in the completed criminal threat but also in the attempt criminal threat crime. Otherwise words that do not amount to a crime could be made criminal by

¹ All further references are to the Penal Code, unless noted.

the mere application of attempt law. Such an anomalous result is inconsistent with the protections of the First Amendment.

To instruct properly on the attempt criminal threat crime, the court must inform the jury of this essential element: that the statement at issue would cause reasonable fear under the circumstances. Trying to comply with this duty in the instant case, the trial court gave the standard attempt instruction and the standard completed criminal threat instruction. Although usually the giving of the completed crime instruction and the general attempt instruction is sufficient to convey the necessary requirements of an attempt crime, such is not the case when speech is criminalized – for example, in the attempt criminal threats context. This is so because the two instructions fail to convey the necessary requirement of objective reasonableness when defining the attempt criminal threat crime – it is only described in the context of the completed crime, and thus is only defined in the context of a defendant's subjective intent.

While the need for an additional instruction beyond the general attempt instruction and the completed crime instruction is unusual, it is not without precedent. Attempt murder requires the giving of the CALCRIM No. 600 instruction, instead of the general attempt instruction and the completed crime instruction. This is because the attempt murder cannot be based on implied malice without the finding of an intent to kill, a mental state on which the completed murder crime can be based and which is

defined in the basic murder instruction (CALCRIM No. 520). (See *People v. Collie* (1981) 30 Cal.3d 43.)

STATEMENT OF THE CASE.

An amended information filed on June 3, 2011 charged appellant Ben Chandler, Jr. in count one with stalking (§ 646.9, subd. (a)); and in counts two and three with criminal threats. (§ 422.) It was further alleged that appellant had suffered two prior serious felony convictions, or strike priors, pursuant to sections 1170.12, subdivisions (a)-(d) and 667, subdivisions (b)-(i), and two serious felony priors, pursuant to section 667, subdivision (a). (1CT pp. 224-226.)

Trial began on May 31, 2011. (1CT p. 212.) On June 10, 2011, a jury found appellant not guilty on counts one through three, and guilty on the lesser included offenses of attempted criminal threats on counts two and three. The jury could not reach a decision on the lesser included offense to count one, and the court declared a mistrial. The jury then found the prior convictions true. (1CT pp. 277-278.)

On July 1, 2011, defendant filed a motion inviting the court to strike one or more of his prior strike convictions. (2CT p. 300.) On that same day, the court struck a strike prior as to count two, and then sentenced appellant to the mid-term of eighteen months, doubled to three years by the strike prior, plus five years for one of the serious felony priors, as the court determined that only one serious felony prior could be imposed; the second

serious felony prior was stricken. The court then sentenced appellant to a consecutive twenty five years to life on count three, denying the motion to strike a strike prior. The total indeterminate term was twenty five years to life, with a determinate term of eight years. Count one was dismissed by the court. Appellant was given credit for 765 days of pre-sentence custody, consisting of 511 actual days, and 254 conduct days pursuant to section 4019. (2CT pp. 305-306.)

Appellant filed a timely notice of appeal from the judgment on July 27, 2011. (2CT p. 333.)

On November 19, 2012, the Court of Appeal issued a partially published opinion affirming the judgment. On February 13, 2013, this court granted review.

STATEMENT OF FACTS.

Appellant lived on Pottery Lane, just off of Scrivner Lane in Lake Elsinore. (1RT p. 129.) Jaime Lopez lived just around the corner on Scrivner Lane with her two children, having lived there since 2003. (1RT pp. 114-115, 129.)

A. Evidence in Support of Count One and Count Two.

Sometime in January 2009, Lopez stated that appellant drove by her and called her a bitch. The remark scared her. (1RT p. 117.) Appellant stated, "I know when you are alone." The next day appellant drove by and said, "fuck you bitch" to Lopez. (1RT pp. 121-123.) Lopez stated that

appellant would walk up and down the middle of the street using profanity and laughing at her. (1RT pp. 125, 127.) Lopez said that "weird" things began happening at her house, like the sound of a tennis ball being bounced off her windows, and a pipe thrown at the front door. (1RT p. 127.) One day a large quantity of nails was spread in the street and her driveway, with the word "fuck" spray painted on the street. (1RT p. 128.)

On January 29, 2009, Lopez observed appellant walking up the street carrying an object and stating, "fuck you bitch, I'm going to kill you." (1RT p. 141, 3RT p. 365.) Lopez spent the night at her neighbor Deborah Alva's house. That night she and Alva heard appellant singing a popular song from his front porch, that included the lyrics "it always feels like someone's watching you." (1RT p. 143, 2RT pp. 299, 311.)

On January 30, 2009, Lopez was taking her two children and a neighbor, Daniel Alva, to Knotts Berry Farm. While Lopez was stopped at a stop sign appellant approached her and said, "I'm going to kill you bitch." Lopez was frightened and drove away. (1RT p. 131, 2RT p. 250-254, 3RT p. 359.) These incidents formed the basis for the charges in count one and count two.

For two months thereafter Lopez would check the house before letting her kids in. (1RT p. 133.) Lopez heard that appellant had previously assaulted someone, and went to the courthouse to look at the records on the case. (1RT p. 140.) Lopez was told that appellant believed he had a child

with her. (1RT p. 151.) Lopez was very afraid of appellant and eventually moved away from the neighborhood. (1RT pp. 147-148.)

B. Evidence in Support of Count Three.

Deborah Alva stated that she was friends with appellant, and that her family had spent Thanksgiving, Christmas, and New Years with appellant. (2RT p. 280.) She later had a business dispute with appellant, and claimed that appellant owed her money. (2RT p. 282.) On January 29, 2009, she heard a disturbance, walked outside, and saw appellant walking up the street swinging a golf club, saying "I'm going to kill you, you fucking bitch." (2RT p. 293.) Alva said the remark was directed at her, and Alva responded "bring it on," stating that she wasn't afraid, but was "afraid inside." (2RT p. 295.) Alva stated that she was afraid appellant would do some damage to her car, but appellant turned around and went back to his property. (2RT pp. 295-296.) Later Alva stated she was afraid for her safety if appellant had come up to her porch. (2RT p. 312.) Alva believed that appellant was ranting and raving because he was under the influence of drugs. (2RT p. 297.) This incident formed the basis of the charges in count three.

C. Defense Evidence.

Appellant denied placing any nails in the street or writing graffiti on the street. (3RT pp. 401, 408.) He stated that he has walked on Scrivner, as he takes long walks in the neighborhood every morning. (3RT pp. 402,

404.) On January 29, 2009, appellant was chipping golf balls in his back yard when he noticed a laser light on his chest. (3RT pp. 408-409.)

Appellant was alarmed as he had been shot at the week before. (3RT p. 410.) Appellant noticed that the light was coming from a group of people gathered at the top of Scrivner Lane. (3RT p. 418.) He yelled, "stop pointing that fucking thing at me" and heard Alva laughing, before the group dispersed and went into a house on Scrivner Lave. (3RT pp. 419-420.) Appellant stated that he swung his golf club at a tree, and then turned and went inside the house. (3RT pp. 421-422.)

Appellant denied knowing or ever seeing Jaime Lopez. (3RT p. 401.) He stated that he had two children that lived in Temecula, and he never claimed to have fathered a child with Jaime Lopez. (3RT p. 423.)

ARGUMENT.

I.

THE TRIAL COURT COMMITTED REVERSIBLE ERROR BY FAILING TO INSTRUCT THE JURY THAT IT MUST DECIDE ON A CHARGE OF ATTEMPTED CRIMINAL THREATS WHETHER THE INTENDED THREAT REASONABLY COULD HAVE CAUSED SUSTAINED FEAR UNDER THE CIRCUMSTANCES.

A. Introduction.

The opinion of the Court of Appeal in the instant case is in direct conflict with the published opinion of the Sixth District Court of Appeal in *People v. Jackson* (2009) 178 Cal.App.4th 590, as well as the opinion of this court in *People v. Lowery* (2011) 52 Cal.4th 419.

Jackson held that, just as a statement must be viewed objectively from the point of view of a reasonable person in determining whether it constitutes a criminal threat, an attempted criminal threat must be viewed from the same perspective in determining whether it constitutes an attempted criminal threat. This is so, the court reasoned, in order to insure that punishment will apply only to speech that clearly falls outside First Amendment protection. (People v. Jackson, supra, 178 Cal.App.4th 590, 598.) Jackson found that the trial court had committed instructional error because the instructions given for the attempted crime simply referred the jury back to the elements of the substantive completed crime. The problem with that was that the instruction on the substantive completed crime included the reasonableness element only as part of the result of the completed crime, and did not instruct the jury to consider whether the intended threat reasonably could have caused sustained fear under the circumstances of the attempted crime. (Id. at p. 599.)

The Court of Appeal in this case rejected the reasoning of *Jackson*, holding that an attempt to make a criminal threat is a crime regardless of whether it was objectively reasonable, under the circumstances, for the victim to be in fear. (E054154, Slip opinion at p. 18.)

The Court of Appeal's opinion is also in conflict with the opinion of this court in *People v. Lowery, supra,* 52 Cal.4th 419. In *Lowery*, the issue was the constitutionality of section 140, subdivision (a), which makes it a

crime to threaten to use force or violence on a victim of or a witness to a crime. The defendant argued that the statute was unconstitutional because it did not require the intent to intimidate the victim or witness. This court held that section 140 was constitutional because it "appl[ied] only to those threatening statements that a reasonable listener would understand, in light of the context and surrounding circumstances, to constitute a true threat" (*People v. Lowery, supra*, 52 Cal.4th at p. 427.) The Court of Appeal's holding in this case is a repudiation of this court's objective standard of a true threat adopted in *Lowery*.

B. The Standard of Review.

The independent or de novo standard of review is applicable in assessing whether instructions correctly state the law (*People v. Berryman* (1993) 6 Cal.4th 1048, 1089, overruled on another point in *People v. Hill* (1998) 17 Cal.4th 800, 823, fn. 1).

C. The State Can Criminalize Threatening Speech Without Contravening the First Amendment if it Does So Within Well Established Parameters.

"As originally enacted, section 422 made it a felony to 'willfully threaten [] to commit a crime which will result in death or great bodily injury to another person, with intent to terrorize another or with reckless disregard of the risk of terrorizing another,' if such threats cause another person 'reasonably to be in sustained fear for his or her[] or their immediate family's safety.' To 'terrorize' was defined by section 422.5 as

"'creat[ing] a climate of fear and intimidation by means of threats or violent action causing sustained fear for personal safety *in order to achieve social or political goals.*' "[Citation.] Thus, read together, the two statutes penalized only threats made with intent to achieve 'social or political goals.' [Citation.]" (*In re Ge M.*(1991) 226 Cal.App.3d 1519, 1522.)

In 1981, this court found then-sections 422 and 422.5 were unconstitutional because the phrase "social or political goals" was void for vagueness. (*People v. Mirmirani*, *supra*, 30 Cal.3d 375, 383, 388.) Since the crime defined by the two statutes could be committed by words alone, the statutes were subject to the "strict standards" required by the First Amendment to evaluate a vagueness challenge. (*People v. Mirmirani*, *supra*, 30 Cal.3d 375, 383.) *Mirmirani* concluded that the phrase "'social or political goals'" had "no established legal meaning," the statutes did not provide clear lines "by which citizens, law enforcement officials, judges and juries can understand what is prohibited and what is not," and it was "virtually impossible to determine what conduct by an individual in a democratic society could not in some way be construed as an attempt to achieve a 'social' or 'political' goal." (*Id.* at p. 384.)

Mirmirani acknowledged the Legislature may constitutionally penalize threats, "even though they are pure speech," but statutes which attempt to do so "must be narrowly directed only to threats which truly pose a danger to society," and cited to a series of federal courts of appeals

and United States Supreme Court opinions on this point, including Watts v.

United States, supra, 394 U.S. 705 and United States v. Kelner, supra, 534

F.2d 1020. (People v. Mirmirani, supra, 30 Cal.3d 375, 388, fn. 10.)

In *Kelner*, the defendant, a member of the Jewish Defense League, had been convicted under a federal statute for threatening to assassinate Palestinian leader Yasser Arafat, who was to be in New York for a meeting at the United Nations. *Kelner* argued that without proof he specifically intended to carry out the threat, his statement was political hyperbole protected by the First Amendment rather than a punishable true threat. (*United States v. Kelner, supra,* 534 F.2d at p. 1025.)

The reviewing court disagreed and concluded threats are punishable consonant with constitutional protections "when the following criteria are satisfied. So long as the threat on its face and in the circumstances in which it is made is so unequivocal, unconditional, immediate and specific as to the person threatened, as to convey a gravity of purpose and imminent prospect of execution, the statute may properly be applied." (*United States v. Kelner, supra,* 534 F.2d at p. 1027.) In formulating this rationale, the *Kelner* court drew on the analysis in *Watts v. United States, supra,* 394 U.S. 705, in which the United States Supreme Court reversed a conviction for threatening the President of the United States. Defendant Watts had stated, in a small discussion group during a political rally, "'And now I have already received my draft classification as 1–A and I have got to report for

my physical this Monday coming. I am not going. If they ever make me carry a rifle the first man I want to get in my sights is L.B.J.' "(*Id.* at p. 706,.) Both Watts and the crowd laughed after the statement was made. (*Id.* at p. 707.) The Supreme Court determined that taken in context, and considering the conditional nature of the threat and the reaction of the listeners, the only possible conclusion was that the statement was not a punishable true threat, but political hyperbole privileged under the First Amendment. (*Id.* at pp. 707–708.)

As the *Kelner* court understood this analysis, the Supreme Court was not adopting a bright line test based on the use of conditional language but simply illustrating the general principle that punishable true threats must express an intention of being carried out. (See *United States v. Kelner*, *supra*, 534 F.2d at p. 1026.) "In effect, the Court was stating that threats punishable consistently with the First Amendment were only those which according to their language and context conveyed a gravity of purpose and likelihood of execution so as to constitute speech beyond the pale of protected [attacks on government and political officials]." (*Ibid.*)

Accordingly, "[t]he purpose and effect of the *Watts* constitutionally-limited definition of the term 'threat' is to insure that only unequivocal, unconditional and specific expressions of intention immediately to inflict injury may be punished—only such threats, in short, as are of the same

nature as those threats which are ... 'properly punished every day under statutes prohibiting extortion, blackmail and assault....' "(*Id.* at p. 1027.)

Sections 422 and 422.5 were repealed in 1987. (*In re Ge M.*, *supra*, 226 Cal.App.3d at p. 1522.) In 1988, section 422 was amended and reenacted to prohibit "criminal" rather than "terrorist" threats. (*In re Ge M.*, *supra*, 226 Cal.App.3d at p. 1522; *People v. Moore* (2004) 118 Cal.App.4th 74, 78–79.) Section 422 now states:

Any person who willfully threatens to commit a crime which will result in death or great bodily injury to another person, with the specific intent that the statement, made verbally, in writing, or by means of an electronic communication device, is to be taken as a threat, even if there is no intent of actually carrying it out, which, on its face and under the circumstances in which it is made, is so unequivocal, unconditional, immediate, and specific as to convey to the person threatened, a gravity of purpose and an immediate prospect of execution of the threat, and thereby causes that person reasonably to be in sustained fear for his or her own safety or for his or her immediate family's safety, shall be punished by imprisonment in the county jail not to exceed one year, or by imprisonment in the state prison.

"The Legislature ... enacted a substantially revised version [of section 422] in 1988, adopting almost verbatim language from United States v. Kelner, supra, 534 F.2d 1020. [Citations.]" (People v. Bolin, supra, 18 Cal.4th 297, 338.)

The current version of section 422 "has been carefully drafted to comport with the detailed guidelines articulated by the *Kelner* court" and is

not constitutionally overbroad. (*People v. Fisher* (1993) 12 Cal.App.4th 1556, 1560; *In re David L.* (1991) 234 Cal.App.3d 1655, 1661.)

"[T]he standard set forth in [the current version of] section 422 is both the statutory definition of a crime and the constitutional standard for distinguishing between punishable threats and protected speech.

Accordingly, in applying section 422, courts must be cautious to ensure that the statutory standard is not expanded beyond that which is constitutionally permissible. [Citation.]" (*In re Ryan D.* (2002) 100 Cal.App.4th 854, 861–862.)

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