# In the Supreme Court of the State of California

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

Plaintiff and Respondent,

BEN CHANDLER, JR.,

Defendant and Appellant.

Case No. S207542 SUPREME COURT FILED

AUG - 1 2013

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Fourth Appellate District, Division Two, Case No. E054154 Riverside County Superior Court, Case No. SWF027980 The Honorable Mark E. Johnson, Judge

#### ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

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

Offers to deal in illegal products or otherwise engage in illegal activity do not acquire First Amendment protection when the offeror is mistaken about the factual predicate of his offer. The pandering and solicitation made unlawful by the Act are sorts of inchoate crimes -acts looking toward the commission of another crime, the delivery of child pornography. As with other inchoate crimes-attempt and conspiracy, for example-impossibility of completing the crime because the facts were not as the defendant believed is not a defense.

(U.S. v. Williams, supra, 553 U.S. at p. 300; see also People v. Cochran (2002) 28 Cal.4th 396, 398-399 [acceptable to proscribe additional punishment for defendants who produce child pornography for commercial purpose rather than solely for personal use, in order to deter and punish production of pornography for purposes of exchanging it for other child pornography].)

Chandler's attempt to use *Williams* to reach a contrary conclusion is misguided. (BOM 42-43.) *Williams* required the material in question meet the statutory definition of pornography only to support a conviction for the distribution or possession of that material, because the target of that statute was preventing collection and dissemination of pornography. But that does not mean a victim must perceive the threat made as being a true threat and actually and reasonably cause fear in the criminal threat context, or the defendant's threat magically transforms into a protected speech, not

otherwise subject to punishment as an attempted criminal threat. As the court below reasoned,

Thus, the Supreme Court indicated that it can be constitutional to punish even protected speech as an attempt to engage in unprotected speech, provided the speaker intended the speech to be unprotected and it is protected only fortuitously.

In sum, then, in California, an attempt to make a criminal threat is a crime, regardless of whether it was objectively reasonable, under the circumstances, for the victim to be in fear; this does not violate the First Amendment. Accordingly, the trial court was not required to instruct the jury otherwise."

(Opn. at pp. 20-21; emphasis added.)

Chandler nevertheless maintains Williams actually supports his argument that there can only be an "objective" component in determining whether speech is protected, and that a speaker's intent is not sufficient to constitutionally proscribe speech. (BOM 42-43.) But that is not what Williams held. Williams recognized that distribution of child pornography may include both subjective and objective components, that is, a defendant may not be found to distribute pornography with the requisite scienter where another person believes the defendant held a subjective "belief" the material was child pornography, but the defendant did not so hold. But Williams also observed that the defendant could still be found to have violated the portion of the statute that criminalizes one's intent "to cause another to believe" it was child pornography. There was also an objective component, that is, an objective manifestation of belief the material was child pornography, which means an accompanying statement or action that would lead a reasonable person to understand the defendant believed he or she wished to promote, transfer, solicit or distribute child pornography. (Williams, supra, 553 U.S. at pp. 295-296.)

Williams concluded a person could be punished for offers to distribute or possess child pornography, even if the person did not possess actual

child pornography. The statute did not require actual possession but instead targeted the solicitation or advertising of what is depicted as child pornography. That is to say, it penalized speech accompanied by actions to engage in the transfer of child pornography to others. Thus, the impossibility of actually completing the crime (i.e., delivering child pornography) because the facts were not as the defendant believed them to be was still considered a criminal offense. (*Williams*, *supra*, 553 U.S. at pp. 292-293, 300.)

This defense of "impossibility" is often disparaged in the context of other kinds of attempted crimes. In *People v. Camodeca* (1959) 52 Cal.2d 142, this Court observed:

When it is established that the defendant intended to commit a specific crime and that in carrying out that intention he committed an act that caused harm or sufficient danger of harm, it is immaterial that for some collateral reason he could not complete the intended crime. Although the law does not impose punishment for guilty intent alone, it does impose punishment when guilty intent is coupled with action that would result in a crime but for the intervention of some fact or circumstance unknown to the defendant. ... In the present case there was not a legal but only a factual impossibility of consummating the intended offense, i.e., the intended victim was not deceived.

(*Id.* at p. 147; see also Witkin, Cal. Crim. Law 4th (2012) Elements, § 65, p. 378 referring to *People v. Rojas* (1961) 55 Cal.2d 252, 257; *People v. Meyers* (1963) 213 Cal.App.2d 518, 520; *In re Ryan N.* (2001) 92 Cal.App.4th 1359, 1384 [defendant guilty of attempt to assist suicide in violation of Penal Code section 401 despite fact that, unknown to him, sleeping pills he gave victim were incapable of causing death].)

Witkin explains that "legal impossibility" is often distinguished from "factual impossibility," observing that in many instances the crime would have been committed except for inadequate means or circumstances. Under that scenario of factual impossibility, the attempt offense may still be

punishable. In contrast, other situations, like "shooting at a stump or mistakenly taking one's own coat or hat," are completed acts but would still not constitute murder or theft, regardless of a defendant's subjective intent to kill or to steal. In those situations, legal impossibility would be a complete defense to attempted murder or attempted theft. (Witkin, *supra*, at p. 378)<sup>11</sup>

Chandler draws upon the constitutional limits of overbreadth that were discussed above to now bootstrap it into the context of the criminal threat statute, maintaining one's subjective intent is never sufficient by itself. In other words, one cannot be criminally liable for making a true threat if a victim objectively does not find it to be a threat. (BOM 47-48.)

This argument fails to consider the distinction between speech at issue in child pornography cases, with that of the speech at issue in the true threat context. The constitutional limitation discussed in the child pornography context was needed to ensure a complete class of otherwise protected speech (possession of virtual pornography) would not disappear.

(Williams, supra, 553 U.S. at p. 289 [provision held invalid in Free Speech Coalition because "the child-protection rationale for speech restriction does not apply to materials produced without children"] and at p. 320 (dissent, Souter J.) ["The second reason for treating child pornography differently follows from the first. If the deluded drug dealer is held liable for an attempt crime there is no risk of eliminating baking powder from trade in lawful commodities.... But if the Act can effectively eliminate the real-child requirement when a proposal relates to extant material, a class of

Witkin does note that, "[h]owever, it may be that the person who fired at the stump was already guilty of an attempt when he pointed the loaded gun in the general direction of an intended victim." (*Ibid.* referring to *People v. Lee* (1892) 95 Cal. 666.)

protected speech will disappear"].) But that is not a concern for purpose of the true threat doctrine.

Moreover and as discussed above, Chandler's reasoning utterly fails to account for the inchoate nature of the *attempted* criminal threat offense. Attempted criminal threats are based on a defendant's making of a threat he intended a victim would reasonably be in fear, not on whether a reasonably objective victim would have suffered fear under those circumstances.

Consider the illustration of a person inside of a bar acting aggressively and threatening to attack another, perhaps even stating he would follow the person outside and beat him up. Unbeknownst to the aggressor, the intended victim is an off-duty police officer and the bar happened to be hosting his retirement party, with the intended victim surrounded by his fellow officers. Under Chandler's logic, even if the aggressor subjectively believed he was making a threat, he engaged in protected speech and did nothing to warrant criminal liability, because the intended victim fortuitously was not in fear. The logic fails to account for the aggressor's own intent to convey a threat under circumstances he intended would reasonably cause sustained fear.

A similar circumstance arose in *State v. DeLoreto* (2003) 265 Conn. 145, 157 [827 A.2d 671]. There, the defendant confronted two police officers. In one incident, the defendant drove by an off-duty sergeant who was jogging, held up his middle finger and yelled, "Faggot, pig, I'll kick your ass." He continued to threaten that, "I'm going to own your house. I got a federal lawsuit against you for breaking into my house." The defendant followed the jogging officer and eventually stopped the car, jumped out, and made aggressive gestures while continuing to say, "I'm going to kick your ass." The defendant made obscene gestures to another police sergeant and also threatened, "I'm going to kick your punk ass" several times. (*Id.* at p. 155.) That the officers were armed and probably

would not have been harmed by the defendant was not enough to dispel the existence of a threat. In other words, the mere fact that the target of the threat may be able to defend himself against immediate attack does not mean the threat is not a "true threat" for First Amendment purposes. (*Id.* at p. 157, citing *Black*, *supra*, 538 U.S. 343 ["True threats encompass those statements where the speaker means to communicate a serious expression of an intent to commit an act of unlawful violence to a particular individual or group of individuals. ... The speaker need not actually intend to carry out the threat."]; see also *In re M.S.*, *supra*, 10 Cal.4th at p. 711 ["The [defendants] err, however, in assuming the First Amendment always requires the threatened harm be imminent for the threat to be constitutionally punishable. It does not."].)

In this vein, Chandler's threats to kill his victims were not protected speech. And as discussed above, nothing in California's substantive law compels any further limitations on this prohibited conduct. Further, they could properly be punished under the First Amendment as attempted criminal threats, so long as he intended the circumstances to be such that the threats would reasonably cause sustained fear.

Finally, Chandler maintains reversal is required because the jury was never asked to find if the victims were in sustained fear that was reasonable under the circumstances, for propose of the attempted criminal threat offense. (BOM 24.) But as shown above, the sustained fear requirement was thoroughly set out in CALCRIM No. 1300. It would have been clear to any juror that if the target of the threat was not in sustained fear, or if the sustained fear the target was unreasonable, the crime could at most be an attempt. Unless that conclusion would constitute error as a matter of law, "the court's instructions, when considered as a whole, properly guided the jury's consideration of the evidence. [Citation.]" (*People v. Rodrigues* 

(1994) 8 Cal.4th 1060, 1142-1143.) Chandler failed to establish that such a conclusion was error.

#### E. Any Assumed Instructional Error Was Harmless

Even if the instructions were found somehow to be deficient, any error was harmless because no reasonable jury would have concluded that Chandler's threats were not the kind to have reasonably caused fear. (*Chapman v. California* (1967) 386 U.S. 18, 24 [87 S.Ct. 824, 17 L.Ed.2d 705].)

If the jury determined that based on the evidence there was no immediacy or urgency conveyed by the threats or that the victims were not in sustained fear under these circumstances, it properly acquitted him of making criminal threats. But that did not mean Chandler did not complete and convey his intended threat and thus attempt to commit criminal threats. It only meant his actions to that end were not effective. As *Toledo* makes clear, in each of these cases, Chandler by mere unintended fortuity was prevented from actually perpetrating the completed offense. (*Toledo*, *supra*, 26 Cal.4th at p. 231.) Or as the court below explained, "the jury could find that defendant completed his intended action. That action did not constitute the completed crime, because he did not achieve his intended result-either the victims were not afraid, or their fear was not reasonable. Nevertheless, his action was still criminal." (Opn. at p. 25.)

That the jury concluded Chandler only committed attempted criminal threat was likely due to the fact it determined the victims were not in actual sustained fear when Chandler made his threats - the third example from *Toledo*. (Opn. at p. 22; see 2 RT 295 [Alva equivocating if she feared Chandler], 297 [Alva testified she felt Chandler was simply ranting and raving] and 312 [Alva testified she was afraid only if Chandler had walked onto her porch].) But according to Chandler, if the jury concluded the victims were not actually afraid, then under CALCRIM No. 1300 as

phrased, there would be no need to determine if that nonexistent fear was reasonable. The jury therefore would find him guilty of an attempted criminal threat without ever determining whether a reasonable person could have been in sustained fear from his threats. Alternatively, he suggests the same risk applies if the jury determined the victims were actually afraid, but the fear was unreasonable (an example not set forth in *Toledo*).

Despite Chandler's claims to the contrary, *Jackson* is distinguishable from the instant case. *Jackson* noted its jury may have found the defendant's statements — that he was going to blow off the landlords' heads — did not reasonably cause fear under the circumstances because they were "safely inside the house with a telephone to call the police while defendant sat out front," and characterized defendant's statements as merely "outlandish." (*Jackson, supra,* 178 Cal.App.4th at p. 600.) In contrast, Chandler's statements here were neither outlandish, nor made to victims in an isolated incident and without further actions that warranted concern.

The difference between intent to reasonably cause sustained fear and actually instilling such reasonable fear, is both ephemeral and narrow. This is not a case in which Chandler threatened a victim with a feather or some harmless object and conveyed words that no reasonable person would find threatening. His constant taunts of violence, the golf club that he swung while threatening to kill, his disruption of the victims' homes and his brazen approaches toward them, was more than sufficient to cause fear in any reasonable person. (Opn., at pp. 3-5.)

Chandler "had effectively done all that he needed to do to ensure that" his victims would fear him and his actions constituted an attempted criminal threat. (*Decker, supra,* 41 Cal.4th at p. 14 ["In this case, however, Decker had effectively done all that he needed to do to ensure that Donna and her friend be executed ... Accordingly, he should have been held to

answer to the charges of attempted murder."].) Therefore, omission of a jury instruction on whether a reasonable person could have been placed in sustained fear cannot be attributed to Chandler's conviction. (Opn., at p. 22; *People v. Flood, supra*, 18 Cal.4th at pp. 502–503.)

#### **CONCLUSION**

The instructions given in this case properly defined the attempted criminal threat offense. Further, the Constitution requires nothing more in order to proscribe attempted criminal threats under the true threat doctrine. Because threats intended to communicate harm toward others are not a type of protected speech, the attempted criminal threat offense only targets "true threats" and does not infringe on protected speech under First Amendment. Finally, if the instructions were found somehow to be deficient, the error was harmless because no reasonable jury would have concluded Chandler's threats were not the kind to have reasonably caused fear. Consequently, the judgment should be affirmed.